

Original Research Article

POPULATION DYNAMICS OF *PRATYLENCHUS BRACHYURUS* IN MAIZE TREATED WITH NPK FERTILIZER

Commented [h1]: Reframe title. Don't use NPK

Abstract

Field studies were conducted in the early and late season of 2010 in the tropical rainforest zone of Nigeria to investigate the effects of NPK fertilizer as an inorganic soil amendment at 75 kg/ha and 150 kg/ha in four replications on population densities of *Pratylenchus* spp and on crop yield of maize. Seeds of maize variety, DMR LSR-Y were collected from Institute of Agricultural Research and Training, Ibadan. The experimental field was naturally infested with *Pratylenchus* spp. due to subsequent continuous cultivation of susceptible crop on the field. Seeds were planted and NPK was applied around the roots of maize plants 3 weeks after seedling emergence. Soil samples were taken on treatment plots at planting and harvest to determine the percentage change in nematode population. At the end of experiment, NPK application resulted in the increase in the nematode population. However, the grain yield of maize was not reduced by the increased nematode densities. The results of this study suggests that the usage of NPK caused a surge in the nematode reproduction on the field due to the availability of more feeding sites on the actively growing root system of the crop.

Commented [h2]: Decade old work

Commented [h3]: quantify

Introduction

Maize is an essential cereal crop being cultivated in the rainforest and derived savannah zone of Nigeria. Nigeria produces around 8 million tons annually (Olaniyi and Adewale, 2012). Several nematode species reportedly found in maize fields include; root-lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus* spp.), root-knot nematodes (*Meloidogyne* spp.), needle nematodes (*Longidorus* spp.), sting nematodes (*Belonolaimus* spp.), stubby-root nematodes (*Paratrichodorus* spp.), Lance nematodes (*Hoplolaimus* spp.), spiral nematodes (*Helicotylenchus* spp.), cyst nematodes (*Heterodera* spp.) and dagger nematode (*Xiphinema* spp.) (Nicol *et al.*, 2011). Globally, root-lesion nematodes are the most common pests associated with maize causing much damage (Norton, 1983; Norton, 1984; Windham, 1998). In Nigeria, root-lesion nematodes have also been reported to the most common nematode pest of maize (Obuezie, and Ikpeze, 2012). McDonald & Nicol (2005) reported that infections due to *P. brachyurus*, *P. zae* and *P. penetrans* have resulted into stunted growth and poor yield. *P. brachyurus* was observed to be responsible for 28.5% yield reduction in Nigeria (Egunjobi & Larinde, 1975). This species causes deterioration of the cell wall of the host and thereby weakens its defense mechanisms through its feeding habits (Haegeman *et al.*, 2012). *Pratylenchus* spp. is migratory and

Commented [h4]: needs updated data

endoparasitic. It injects toxins inside the tissues, causing damages in host plant roots. Symptoms associated with this nematode infection can be similar to those caused by other pathogens, nutritional deficiencies and water stress (Castillo and Vovlas, 2007).

Soil fertility maintenance is important to sustain food security with the application of the required soil amendments (Gruzdeva *et al.*, 2007). Use of chemical fertilizers have been reported to have caused changes in soil biological activities (Hopkins & Shiel, 1996). For instance, Habash and Al-Banna (2011) observed that inorganic fertilizer had suppressive effects on populations of root-knot nematodes. According to (Ferraz *et al.* (2010), applying fertilizer had the tendency to compensate for the damage caused by nematode by enhancing plant growth. In view of this, an experiment was carried out to assess the effect of NPK on the population of *Pratylenchus* spp. and on grain yields of maize.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental site

Field trials were conducted in the early and late season of 2010, May and August respectively at Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile-Ife, located in the rain forest on latitude 7°28'N and longitude 4°33'E at 244 m above the sea level. A field previously cultivated with susceptible maize for five years and confirmed to be infested with root-lesion nematode was cleared, ploughed and harrowed. The identity of the nematode was confirmed using perineal patterns as described by Eisenback *et al.* (1981). Low to moderate population densities of root knot nematode, *Meloidogyne* spp., Dagger nematode, *Xiphinema* spp., and Spiral nematode, *Helicotylenchus* spp., were also present on the experimental site as determined in soil samples subjected to conventional nematode analysis.

Layout of the experimental site

The experimental plot was ploughed and harrowed in the rainy season (May 2010). Plot size was 3 m x 2 m and arranged in a randomized complete block design with four replicates. Seeds of maize were planted at a spacing of 75 x 50 cm. Seeds of maize variety, DMR LSR-Y were collected from Institute of Agricultural Research and Training, Ibadan. Three seeds were planted per hole and later thinned to one plant per stand one week after emergence.

Nematode identification and soil analyses

At planting and harvest, soil samples were collected from each treatment plot to determine the initial and final population densities of the nematode respectively. A bulk sample consisting of 20 cores (diameter, 1.9 cm; depth, 0-20 cm) was collected from each plot, from which 200 ml was taken after mixing and used as a subsample to represent each plot. The sub-samples were processed for nematode extraction using the tray method of Whitehead and Hemming (1965). Nematode population was estimated in Doncaster counting dish (Doncaster, 1962) under a stereomicroscope (250x magnification). Nematodes were killed by heating at 45°C for 1 h, fixed in 4% (w/v) formaldehyde. Individual nematodes from each sample were then examined at 100 – 400x under a light microscope to identify the genus and species levels.

Application of NPK fertilizer as an inorganic amendment

NPK fertilizer was applied around the roots of maize plants three weeks after seedling emergence at rates of 150 kg/ha, 75 kg/ha and 0 kg/ha. Weeds were controlled by hand weeding. At 15 weeks after germination, harvesting was done. Although, maturity was reached at 12 weeks, there was a need for reduction in moisture content of the grain yield. Soil sampling was done to determine the final nematode population at harvest. The field trial was repeated in August, 2010 on the same experimental site, with the same experimental design and procedures.

Statistical analysis

All data collected were subjected to analysis of variance using the PROC GLM procedure in Statistical Analysis System (SAS) software Version 9.1 (SAS Institute, 2001). Significant treatment means were separated using Fisher's Least Significant Difference (LSD) test at $P < 0.05$. Mean values of *Pratylenchus* species population densities and grain yields of maize for the two rates of soil amendment and the control treatment were compared separately for each planting season. Mean squares for the combined analysis of variance of grain yields of maize and the nematode population densities in the crop in response to inorganic fertilizer application were presented

RESULT AND DISCUSSION

There were significant differences in the percentage increase in the population of *P. brachyurus* on maize treated with NPK in both seasons (Table I.). This shows that NPK fertilizer resulted in the increase of the nematode population, suggesting that the treatment enhanced the abundance of the nematode by increasing their chances to survive and reproduce. This agrees with the findings of Okae-Anti *et al.* (2013) who reported that NPK fertilizer significantly increased various species of nematode populations associated with plantain and also had a corresponding adverse effect on its growth and yield. This also agrees with the findings by Castaner (1966) who observed that the densities of *Meloidogyne* and *Pratylenchus* increased in the fields in the presence of nitrogen. This also confirms the findings by Ross's (1959) that fertilizer application promotes roots growth and thus makes available more feeding sites for nematodes. Increasing total number of nematodes due to application of chemical fertilizer was also reported by other studies (Li *et al.*, 2016; Hu *et al.*, 2017). Similarly, Zhang *et al.* (2016) reported that inorganic fertilizer application effectively improved soil physicochemical properties and were also beneficial for nematode survival within small aggregate size fractions. Higher dry grain yields were recorded in plots treated with 150 Kg/ha and 75 kg/ha NPK fertilizer compared to the untreated control in the two seasons despite the increase in nematode population (Table II.). This suggests that the presence of NPK improved the tolerance of the maize variety against *P. brachyurus*. Hu *et al.* (2018) similarly reported that the application of organic manure combined with chemical fertilizer could increase nematode abundances and raise the grain yields of rice and wheat. This disagrees with the findings of Okae-Anti *et al.* (2013) where the resulting increase in nematode population caused a decrease in the yield of plantain. On the contrary, Kolawole *et al.* (2018) reported that NPK fertilizer significantly reduced root-knot nematode

populations in the roots, soil, and on the tuber of yam, however, the nematodes increase did not reduce yam tuber weight, but reduced its quality.

Commented [h5]: elaborate results

TABLE I: Percentage changes in soil population densities of *Pratylenchus* spp. infecting maize in response to NPK in the early and late season of 2010 (number/200 ml soil)

Treatment	Early season (% change in population)	Late season (% change in population)
NPK at 150 Kg/ha	+68.78a	+49.04a
NPK at 75 Kg/ha	+54.90a	+44.01a
Control (0 Kg/ha)	+22.07b	+33.85b
LSD (P<0.05)	28.87	8.74

Each value is a mean of four replicate. ** Means in the column followed by the same letters are not significantly different.

TABLE II: Effects of NPK on the yield of maize infected with *Pratylenchus brachyurus*

Commented [h6]: put up other effects also

Treatment	Early season (Kg in dry weight)	Late season (Kg in dry weight)
NPK at 150 Kg/ha	7.73a	2.09a
NPK at 75 Kg/ha	2.46b	1.72a
Control (0 Kg/ha)	1.55c	1.10b
LSD (P<0.05)	0.73	0.78

Each value is a mean of four replicate. ** Means in the column followed by the same letters are not significantly different

TABLE III: Mean squares from combined analysis of variance of grain yield and population densities of *Pratylenchus* spp. infecting Maize in response to NPK at the Teaching and Research Farm in the early and late season, 2010

Source	DF	Grain yield (Kg/ha)	<i>Pratylenchus</i> spp.	
Replicate	3	0.0002	1.17736	
Season	1	30.9628**	214.0245**	
Rate	2	28.9573**	2005.8449**	
Rate x Season	2	16.8201**	496.4457**	
Error	6	0.0007	0.1841	
CV (%)		0.99	0.95	

UNDER PEER REVIEW

CONCLUSION

This study suggests that the application of NPK fertilizer to *Pratylenchus brachyurus*-infected maize plants enhanced the growth of root system and likewise the abundance of the nematode by increasing their capacity to survive and reproduce. However, the yield of maize was not affected as the fertilizer was likely to have improved the tolerance of the plant.

UNDER PEER REVIEW

REFERENCES

Commented [h7]: old refs

- Castaner, D. (1966). The relationship of numbers of *Helicotylenchus microlobus* in nitrogen soil amendments. *Iowa State J. Sci.*, 42: 125-135.
- Castillo, P., Volvas, N. (2007). *Pratylenchus* (Nematoda: Pratylenchidae): Diagnosis, Biology, Pathogenicity and Management. *Nematology monographs and Perspectives*, 6: 529 pp.
- Doncaster C. C. (1962). A counting dish for nematode. *Nematologica* 7: 334-336.
- Egunjobi, O. A., Larinde, M. A. (1975). Nematodes and maize growth in Nigeria. II. Effects of some amendments on populations of *Pratylenchus brachyurus* and on the growth and production of maize (*Zea mays*) in Nigeria. *Nematologia Mediterranea* 3, 65-73.
- Eisenback, J. D., Hirschmann, H., Sasser, J. N., Triantaphyllou, A. C. (1981). A guide to the four most common species of root-knot nematodes (*Meloidogyne* spp.) with a pictorial key. A cooperative publication of North Carolina State University and USAID, 48p.
- Ferraz, S., Freitas, L. G., Lopes, E. A., Dias-Arieira C. R. (2010). Manejo sustentável de fitonematoides. Viçosa: Editora UFV. P. 306.
- Gruzdeva, L. I., Matveeva, E. M., Kovalenko, T. E. (2007). Changes in soil nematode communities under the impact of fertilizers. *Eurasian Soil Sci.*, 40(6): 681 – 693.
- Habash S, L Al-Banna (2011). Phosphonate fertilizers suppressed root-knot nematodes *Meloidogyne javanica* and *M. incognita*. *J Nematol* 43:95–100.
- Haegeman, A., Mantelin, S., Jones, J. T., Gheysen, G. (2012). Functional roles of effectors of plant-parasitic nematodes. *Gene*, 492(1), 19-31. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2011.10.040>
- Hopkins, D. W., Shiel, R. S. (1996). Size and activity of soil microbial communities in long-term experimental grassland plots treated with manure and inorganic fertilizers. *Biol. Fert. Soils*, 22(1-2): 66 – 70.
- Hu, C., Xia, X. G., Han, X. M., Chen, Y. F., Qiao, Y., Liu, D. H., Li, S. L. (2018). Soil nematode abundances were increased by an incremental nutrient input in a paddy-upland rotation system *Institute of Parasitology*, 2018-0025
- Hu, J., Chen, G. R., Hassan, W. M., Chen, H., Li, J. Y., Du, G. Z. (2017). Fertilization influences the nematode community through changing the plant community in the Tibetan Plateau. *Eur. J. Soil Biol.*, 78: 7 – 16.
- Kolawole, G. O., Haastrup T. M., Olabiyi T. I. (2018). Can arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi and NPK fertilizer suppress nematodes and improve tuber yield of yam (*Dioscorea rotundata* 'cv' ewuru)? *Eurasian J. Soil Sci.* 2018, 7 (2) 181 – 186
- Li, N., Pan, F. J., Han, X. Z., Zhang, B. (2016). Development of soil food web of microbes and nematodes under different agricultural practices during the early stage of pedogenesis of a Mollisol. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 98: 208 – 216.

McDonald A. H., Nicol J. M. (2005). Nematode Parasites of Cereals. In: Luc, M., Sikora, R. A. and Bridge, J. (Eds). Plant parasitic nematodes in subtropical and tropical agriculture, 2nd edition. Wallingford, UK, CABI Publishing, pp. 131-191.

Nicol, J. M., Turner, S. J., Coyne, D. L., den Nijs, L., Hockland, S. and Tahna Maafi, Z. (2011). Current Nematode Threats to World Agriculture. *Genomics and Molecular Genetics of Plant Nematodes Interactions*. pp 2:30-34.

Norton, D. C. (1983). Maize nematode problems. *Plant Disease* 67, 253-256.

Norton, D. C. (1984). Nematode parasites of corn. In: Nickle, W.R. (Ed.). *Plant and insect nematodes*. Marcel Dekker, New York, 61-94 pp.

Obuezie, C. B., Ikpeze, O. O. (2012). Parasitic Nematodes of Maize In Farms at Oba, Idemili-South Local Government Area of Anambra State, Nigeria. *Journal of Occupational Safety and Environmental Health*. 1(1): 73-78

Okae-Anti, D., deGraft-Etsison, V., Adu-Bitherman, P., Iddriss A. R. M. (2013). Effect of inorganic fertilizers and palm bunch ash on nematode population dynamics and plantain yield in a haplic lixisol. *International Journal of Agricultural Policy and Research* Vol.1 (8), pp. 205-209.

Olaniyi, O. A., Adewale, J. A. (2012). Information on Maize Production among Rural Youth: A Solution for Food Security in Nigeria. *Library Philosophy and Practice (e-Journal)*. 20: 251- 270.

Ross J. P. (1959). Nitrogen fertilization on the responses of soybeans infected with *Heterodera glycines*. *Plant Disease Report.*, 43: 1284-1286.

Whitehead, A. G., Hemming, J. R. (1965). A comparison of some quantitative methods of extracting small vermiform nematodes from soil. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 55(1):25-38.

Windham, G. L. (1998). Corn. In: *Plant and Nematode Interactions*. Agronomy Monograph No. 36. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI, 335-357 pp.

Zhang, Z., Zhang, X., Mahamood, M., Zhang, S., Huang, S., Liang, W. (2016). Effect of long-term combined application of organic and inorganic fertilizers on soil nematode communities within aggregates. *Sci Rep.* 6: 31118.